© 2020. This acceptedmanuscript version is made available under the CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0 license http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

Design and Discovery of Boronic Acid Drugs.

Jessica Plescia, Nicolas Moitessier\*

Department of Chemistry and, McGill University, 801 Sherbrooke St. W., Montréal, Québec H3A 0B8, Canada

# Abstract

Research related to boronic acids, from synthetic development to materials to drug discovery, has skyrocketed in the past 20 years. In terms of drug discovery, the incorporation of boronic acids into medicinal chemistry endeavours has seen a steady increase in recent years. In fact, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and Health Canada have thus far approved five boronic acid drugs, three of which were approved in the past four years, and several others are in clinical trials. Boronic acids have several desirable properties that has led to their increased use, including potentially enhancing potency of drugs and/or improving their pharmacokinetics profile. This review explores discovery processes of boronic acid drugs. It begins with a brief scope of boron in natural products and in current drugs, followed by an investigation into the various rationalizations for boronic acid incorporation and the synthetic developments that focused on facilitating their addition into organic compounds. We hope that the knowledge we have assembled in this literature review will encourage medicinal chemists to consider the potential benefits of incorporating boronic acids into their future drug discovery endeavours.

## Contents

. .

1. Introduction	2
2. Occurrence of boron in nature.	3
2.1. Boron in bacteria.	3
2.2. Boron in plants.	4
2.3. Importance in mammalian systems	4
3. Scope of boronic acid drugs	5
3.1. Approved boron-containing drugs	5
3.2. Boron-containing drugs under investigation	6
3.3. Over-the-counter boron-containing drugs and supplements	7
3.4. Boron-containing compounds in drug discovery	8
3.4.1. Anti-cancer boron-containing compounds	8
3.4.2. Anti-viral boron-containing compounds	9
3.4.3. Other anti-infective boron-containing compounds	10
3.4.4. Other therapeutic applications of boron-containing compounds	11
3.5. Design of boron in drugs	11
3.5.1. Boronic acids as bioisosteres	11

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +1-514-398-8543; fax: +1-514-398-3797; e-mail: nicolas.moitessier@mcgill.ca

References and notes	28
Acknowledgements	28
6. Conclusion and Perspectives	28
5.4. Deprotection of boronic ester pro-drugs	26
5.3. Other aliphatic boronic acids	25
5.2. Aromatic boronic esters and acids	25
5.1. Synthesis of $\alpha$ -aminoboronates	24
5. Synthesis of boronic acid drugs	24
4. Boronic acids in delivery systems	23
3.5.6. Using computational methods	22
3.5.5. Boronic acids and esters as prodrugs	19
3.5.4. Boronic acids as reversible covalent inhibitors	14
3.5.3. Utilizing boronic acids for improvement of drug activity	13
3.5.2. Utilizing boronic acids for improvement of pharmacokinetic properties	12

### **1. Introduction**

2

Boron is ubiquitous in nature, from being an essential component of plant structural integrity [1] and metabolism [2] to being a regulator of mammalian vitamin D levels [3] and bone health [4]. In the form of boronic acids and esters, it is considered to be safe [5] for incorporation into pharmaceutical development.

In fact, instances of boron-based studies, whether for synthetic, biological, or pharmaceutical endeavours have skyrocketed since the late 1990's. Figure 1A illustrates the PubMed literature search results including "boron" in the publication title. More specifically, boron-related drug discovery endeavours have also made increasing appearances in scientific literature. Figure 1B illustrates the PubMed literature search results of "boron" in the publication title and "drug" in the text, showing a steep escalation in usage starting in the 1990's. Boronic acids as drugs are becoming increasingly relevant. In fact, four boron-containing drugs have been approved in the past five years, (Bortezomib as approved in 2005), with several others in clinical trials.



Figure 1: PubMed search results of the terms "boron" (A) and "boron" + "drug" (B).

Despite the use of boronic acids in diagnostic tools [6, 7], Boron Neutron Capture Therapy (BNCT) radiation treatment [8, 9], bioconjugation [10], materials [11], and catalysis [12], among others, our focus in this review is on small molecule drugs containing boronic acids and esters and their associated design and therapeutic application. Reasons for incorporation of boronic acids into drug discovery endeavours vary, ranging from improvement of drug activity to enhancement of pharmacokinetic properties. The discovery process of boronic acids also depends on the approach, such as substrate mimicry or peptidomimetics design, rational design via computational methods, or use as bioisosteres to substitute for certain functional groups.

This review outlines the rationalization of boronic acid use and associated discovery processes, including incorporation of boronic acid moieties into bioactive compounds. While we do include a diverse scope of boron-based drug applications, this review in no means covers the vast span of boronic drug discovery (Figure 1), but instead provides examples of progress made so far in pharmaceutical applications of boronic acids, along with a few examinations of the rationale behind inclusion of boronic acids.

### 2. Occurrence of boron in nature.

### 2.1. Boron in bacteria.

Boromycin (Figure 2), isolated from a *Streptomyces antibioticus* strain in African soil, was the first ever natural product found to contain trace amounts of boron [13]. Since then, this macrolide has been studied for its therapeutic properties. One study reported nanomolar potency against several HIV-infected cell lines [14]. Boromycin was also studied for its potent antibiotic activity against several strains, including *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* [15]. A related macrolide, Aplasmomycin, isolated from *Streptomyces griseus* and named for its anti-plasmodium activity, was discovered about 10 years later and has a structure similar to that of Boromycin [16] (Figure 2). In these two natural products, boron has a structural role, inducing the folding of the polyols into compact structures.



Figure 2: Boron in bacterial-derived antibiotics.

These two bacterial compounds were both recently found to inhibit a biomolecular pathway in *Helicobacter pylori*, bacteria implicated in stomach cancer [17]. Derivatives of these two antibiotics (not shown), including Aplasmomycin B and C and *N*-acetylboromycin, also occur naturally and have also exhibited antibiotic activity. For a more comprehensive review of these natural boron-containing macrolides, see Dembitsky *et al.* [18].

### 2.2. Boron in plants.

Boron is vital to plants and algae. In fact, boron deficiency in plants is detrimental to survival and often leads to plant death [19]. Similarly to the natural products described above, it is known to form complexes with polysaccharide moieties – through interactions with diols – in the plant cell wall membrane and is therefore essential for structural integrity [1]. The mechanism is not fully understood, but one study of tobacco plants revealed that boron-deficient plants contained more reactive oxygen species (ROS) than control plants. The researchers hypothesize the ROS levels build up as a signalling mechanism when there is a disturbance in the structural integrity of the cell wall as a result of boron loss [19]. Although cell wall assembly seems to be its major role, boron is also known to be essential in several other plant biomechanisms, such as nitrogen fixation and plant metabolism [2].

## 2.3. Importance in mammalian systems

Although the full extent of boron's roles in mammalian biological systems is not completely understood, several studies link boron to various mammalian biomechanisms. In fact, the World Health Organization (WHO) declares boron as a "probably essential element" for humans [20].

Boron is suggested to be important in mammalian bone health and is present in higher concentrations in bones than in other tissues [20]. A study conducted by Gorustovich *et al.* aimed to determine the effect of boron-deficient diets on dental bone modelling and remodelling. It was found that boron-deficient diets inhibited bone formation when compared to boron-supplemented control diets, although the mechanism was not elucidated. These results were consistent with earlier discoveries that boron deprivation in rats led to decreased bone volume in vertebral development [21]. Another study employing mice with diabetes-induced osteoporosis showed that boron supplements improved bone strength and overall health in not only the diabetic mice, but also in the control group. These results were consistent with other animal studies, and suggest that boron supplementation may be beneficial for bone strength [4]. However, further studies would need to be conducted to demonstrate parallel effects in humans.

Boric acid treatment even advances wound healing. A preliminary study revealed that treatment with 3% boric acid solution on intensive care patients with deep wounds resulted in transfer to normal care three times as quickly as patients receiving standard treatments [22]. Another *in vivo* study of boron delivered in the form of a boric acid solution showed upregulation of synthesis of extracellular matrix proteins responsible for tissue reparation, although further studies are needed to determine the mechanisms of these observations [23].

Several studies have shown that vitamin D deficiencies are compensated by boron supplementation. One study involved boron supplementation in the vitamin-D-adequate or -inadequate diets of chickens. It was found that addition of boron improved overall chicken health (mineral levels, body weight, food consumption, etc.) in both the vitamin-D-inadequate and control groups, though the increase was greater in the vitamin-D-inadequate group [24]. This study, along with other studies relating dietary boron to vitamin

D levels, led to one group hypothesizing that boron's potential mechanism involves inhibition of an enzyme involved in metabolism of vitamin D to an inactive form [3].

Even from the few above studies, it is clear that boron is implicated in several mammalian biomechanisms. For more comprehensive reviews on boron in biological systems, see Uluisik *et al.* [25].

### 3. Scope of boronic acid drugs

### 3.1. Approved boron-containing drugs

So far, five approved drugs exist on the market that contain boron (Figure 3). The first to be approved was Bortezomib, marketed under the name Velcade®, approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2005 [26] and by Health Canada in 2008 [27] for the treatment of multiple myeloma. The structure was originally discovered through the study of substrate mimics in the form of peptidic aldehydes, which, through co-crystallization with the target were found to bind covalently to the nucleophilic threonine residue. However, as aldehydes are unsuitable for further drug development studies, boronic acid analogs were tested and showed high potency [28, 29]. Although several proposed mechanisms of anti-cancer activities have been reported, its major mechanism of action involves the ubiquitination pathway of protein degradation; Bortezomib is a proteasome inhibitor, blocking the degradation of apoptotic proteins in tumour cells [30]. Through co-crystallization studies, it is suggested to act as a reversible covalent inhibitor, blocking the action of nucleophilic threonine residues in the active sites of the proteasome [31].

Ninlaro®, or Ixazomib, similarly to Bortezomib, was approved by the FDA in 2015 [32] and by Health Canada in 2016 [33] for treatment of multiple myeloma [32] and is a second generation proteasome inhibitor [34]. It is the first oral proteasome inhibitor [32], as Velcade® (Bortezomib) is currently administered as weekly injections [26]. Ixazomib was discovered from a screening of boron-containing proteasome inhibitors with improved pharmacokinetic properties over Bortezomib. Its mechanism of action was found to be nearly identical to that of Bortezomib, yet it was found to be more potent, less prone to inducing adverse side effects (higher specificity), and even to treat certain patients whose tumours have developed resistance to Bortezomib [34]. Although approved, Ixazomib is also under clinical trials as part of combination therapies to treat multiple myeloma [34, 35].





Kerydin®, or Tavaborole, received global approval [36] by the U.S. FDA in 2014 to treat onychomycosis, a fungal infection [37]. Its structure was originally discovered through structure-activity relationship (SAR) studies of a similar anti-bacterial borinic ester. Upon testing against several types of fungi, it was found to have broad-spectrum antifungal activity [38, 39]. Tavaborole's mechanism of action is believed to involve the inhibition of fungal Leucyl-tRNA synthetase, preventing protein synthesis and thus fungal growth, and is three orders of magnitude more selective for fungal Leucyl-tRNA synthetase than the human equivalent. The necessity of the boron-containing moiety was confirmed by 50-fold loss of inhibitory activity upon testing analogues that substituted boron for carbon [40].

Eucrisa<sup>TM</sup>, or Crisaborole, was approved in 2016 by the U.S. FDA [41] and by Health Canada in 2018 to treat mild to moderate eczema [42]. It was discovered by the same research group as that who discovered Tavaborole through a screening of a boron-containing compound library against phosphodiesterase 4 (PDE4) and cytokine release factors, both implicated in anti-inflammatory response pathways [43].

Vabomere<sup>TM</sup> is a combination drug (Figure 1 includes only the boronic acid component) approved by the U.S. FDA [44] and Health Canada in 2017 [45] to treat bacterial infections [46]. It includes Vaborbactam, a  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitor, and Meropenem, an inhibitor of bacterial cell-wall synthesis. Although Vaborbactam is not an antibacterial itself, it is administered in combination with the carbapenem Meropenem to prevent its hydrolysis by  $\beta$ -lactamases [47]. In terms of its discovery, boronic acids were already known to be potent  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors through their reversible covalent bond with catalytic serine residues [48]. Vaborbactam was therefore designed by structure-based modifications of various known active analogues. It was intended to be a reversible covalent inhibitor, and crystallography studies confirm its covalent complexation with the catalytic serine (pdb: 4XUZ) [49]. Furthermore, the researchers successfully induced selectivity over other mammalian serine proteases through incorporation of a *cyclic* borinic acid, which would not fit in the smaller active sites of native serine proteases with more flexible substrates [49].

### 3.2. Boron-containing drugs under investigation

Although not yet approved, there are several boronic acid drugs under investigation in clinical trials (Figure 4).

Dutogliptin [50] is a dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP4) inhibitor. It failed in Phase II clinical trials for diabetes mellitus, but it is now under investigation in a combination therapy with granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) to treat myocardial infarctions. While implicated in diabetes, DPP4 is also responsible for degradation of factors responsible for recruiting stem cells for cardiac muscle repair. A Phase II trial of co-administration of Dutogliptin with G-CSF, a stem cell mobilizer [51], is currently underway [52].

Acoziborole, also referred to as SCYX-7158 or AN5568, is a parasite-inhibiting drug candidate to treat Human African Trypanosomiasis (HAT) [53], although neither its biological target nor its mechanism of action is known [54]. Current available HAT treatments are unfortunately quite cytotoxic and lack efficacy. Acoziborole, on the other hand, is safe, orally bioavailable, and has the potential to be administered in one sole dose [53]. It is currently in Phase III trials [55].

GSK3036656, another benzoxaborole compound, is a leucyl-tRNA synthetase inhibitor for treatment of Tuberculosis infections [56]; it was designed to be a reversibly covalent inhibitor that binds to Ade76 of tRNA and prevents RNA synthesis [57]. It's structure is a modified version of GSK2251052, or AN3365, which failed in Phase II due to development of resistance [58]. An SAR study produced GSK3036656, a potent inhibitor with favorable pharmacokinetic properties that shows selectivity for bacterial leucyl-tRNA synthetase over the human homologue [57]. This compound is currently in Phase II studies for Tuberculosis [59].

6



Figure 4: Boron-containing drugs in clinical trials

Similar to the already-approved Crisaborole is AN2898, another phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitor for the treatment of atopic dermatitis [60]. Clinical trials are ongoing, but in a Phase II study, it was deemed to be safe and effective for treatment [61]. As can be seen in Figure 3 and Figure 4, the structures are nearly identical, save for one extra nitrile in AN2898's side chain.

An antiviral compound, **GSK2878175**, has completed Phase 2 clinical trials [62] as a combination therapy targeting the Hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase NS5B enzyme. Its design stemmed from optimizations of the metabolic profile of a failed clinical candidate. After several rounds of structural modification, *in vitro* and *in cellulo* assays confirmed potent activity of **GSK2878175**, and *in vivo* studies confirmed its superior pharmacokinetic profile [63].

Although not a synthetic drug, boric acid itself is currently in Phase II/III clinical trials as BASIC (Boric Acid, Alternate Solution for Intravaginal Colonization), formulated as a cream to treat bacterial vaginosis (BV) [64]. Separate Phase IV clinical trials are also ongoing, testing a boric acid in combination with probiotics – as a combination capsule – to treat BV and candidiasis, or yeast infection [65].

While there are only a handful of boron-containing drugs currently in clinical trials, several have been halted for various reasons. One example is AN3365, mentioned above. Currently, however, studies of analogs are underway which have produced compounds that appear to evade this resistance [66]. Others include Talabostat (PT-100), a multi-target anti-cancer drug which failed in Phase III [67]; PHX1766, an HCV protease inhibitor that failed in accelerated Phase I trials [68]; and Delanzomib, a proteasome inhibitor similar to Bortezomib and Ixazomib that failed in Phase I/II trials due to limited efficacy [69].

Based on the frequency of boron drugs reaching Phase II clinical trials, it is likely there will be further developments and more approvals in coming years.

### 3.3. Over-the-counter boron-containing drugs and supplements

As discussed earlier, elemental boron supplements have been used in many animal studies to investigate the role of boron in mammalian systems. Although not approved by the FDA, general safety has led to the sale of boron supplements as long as they are not labeled as a treatment for any disease [70].

Although it is undergoing clinical trials as a cream to treat BV [48], boric acid solutions and powders have been available over-the-counter for many years, such as for ophthalmic [71] or vaginal [72] use, though its effectiveness may be questionable.

Calcium fructoborate (CF), sold under FruiteX-B®, is found naturally in fruits and vegetables and is a complex of fructose with boronic acids (intracellular) or esters (extracellular) [73]. It is sold as a supplement whose claims include improvement of bone and cardiovascular health. Although these claims are not fully

substantiated, a double-blind study on middle-aged adults with osteoarthritis did conclude that CF led to improvement in quality of life of patients in the short-term with a favourable prognosis for inflammation. The mechanism of action for this result is not fully known, although *in vitro* studies reveal that CF is responsible for inhibiting the release of proteins responsible for inflammation response (e.g. interleukins) [74]. The claim of improvement in cardiovascular health is still preliminary, although early clinical studies indicate that CF significantly reduces levels of low-density lipoprotein and triglycerides while raising levels of high-density lipoprotein, suggesting that CF may improve cardiovascular health [75]. Despite these results, long-term studies and larger cohorts are necessary for more conclusive results.

### 3.4. Boron-containing compounds in drug discovery

Though they have yet to lead to approved drugs, there have been countless drug discovery endeavours that have incorporated boron into the target molecules for a variety of therapeutic purposes. The following sections highlight some medicinal chemistry applications of boronic acids so far.

#### 3.4.1. Anti-cancer boron-containing compounds

As described earlier, Bortezomib, or Velcade<sup>®</sup> (Figure 3), was the first boronic acid drug to be approved by the U.S. FDA for the treatment of multiple myeloma, [26] followed several years later by Ixazomib, or Ninlaro® (Figure 3) [32]. These approvals have led to a surge of boronic acids drug discovery. Furthermore, due to off-target effects and resistance development against Bortezomib, [29] research continues into proteasome inhibitors, especially after the clinical failure of Delanzomib (Figure 5) [69]. Han et al. recently conducted an SAR relationship study of urea-containing peptidic compounds as proteasome inhibitors. From this study, they discovered compound 1 (Figure 5). In *in vitro* assays, 1 exhibited sub-picomolar activity against the human 20S proteasome. Furthermore, its activity against eleven human cancer cells lines was consistently in the nanomolar range, and *in vivo* mice assays revealed that not only was its anti-tumour activity similar to that of Bortezomib, but it also exhibited lower toxicity and more promising pharmacokinetic properties. Based on these promising results, this compound is currently in pre-clinical studies [76]. More recently, Lei et al. have focused on the discovery of a proteasome inhibitor that would not only be effective for multiple myeloma, but also triple-negative breast cancer. Through an SAR study of Bortezomib and Ixazomib analogues, they discovered compound 2 (Figure 5), an unusual eight-membered ring boronic ester pro-drug, which exhibited low nanomolar activities in vitro and in cellulo similar to those of the two approved drugs. In vivo assays against triple negative breast cancer in mice also yielded promising results, including tumour necrosis. However, the pharmacokinetics of 2 require lead optimization, as in vivo bioavailability is low [77].



Figure 5: Examples of boronic acid compounds as anti-cancer therapeutics

In much more recent context, the dipeptidyl peptidase (DPP) family of serine proteases, including DPP8 and DPP9, have been discovered to be involved in various biomechanisms in cancer and associated immune

response [78]. Studies utilizing DPP8/9 inhibitor Talabostat (Figure 5), a drug that failed in Phase III as a non-selective DPP/FAP/POP inhibitor [67], show that inhibition leads to induction of cell death through several immune response mechanisms [79]. However, results are still inconclusive, as Talabostat is non-selective and the extent of its mechanisms of action is not fully known [78]. DPP8 and DPP9 are very structurally similar to a widely-studied homologous enzyme, DPP4, and many studies focused on inhibitors, mainly on nitriles [80] but some boronic acids (Gly-Boro-Pro and Ala-Boro-Pro, Figure 5) [81], targeting DPP4 for diabetes treatment were tested on both DPP8 and DPP9 to determine selectivity. Similarly, while there exist several FDA-approved DPP4 inhibitors (e.g. sitagliptin, saxagliptin) [82], DPP4 has more recently been discovered to be implicated in certain epithelial cancers. In fact, preliminary studies have demonstrated that in patients with diabetes and colorectal or lung cancer, DPP4 inhibition is associated with greater overall survival [83], though further studies are required. Additionally, recent accounts associate DPP4 inhibitor use with increased risk for pancreatic cancer, although results so far are inconclusive, as longer-term studies are required [84].

Apart from the proteosome or DPP family, boronic acids in anti-cancer pursuits include modifications of failed drug Combretastatin A-4 targeting tubulin assembly by Kong *et al.* [85], and design of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase (TK) inhibitors by Ban *et al.*, both design rationales explored in more detail later [86].

### 3.4.2. Anti-viral boron-containing compounds

Viral proteases are also common biological targets of boron-based inhibitors, such as the NS3 protease of the hepatitis C virus (HCV). Though there exist approved drugs for the HCV NS3 serine protease [87], research has gone into discovery of inhibitors that replace the  $\alpha$ -ketoamide moiety of approved drugs with boronic acid moieties, taking advantage of the catalytic serine in the active site. For example, one group based at Anacor Pharmaceuticals has studied on modifying telaprevir and boceprevir, both linear hexapeptides, with cyclic boronic acids (**3**, Figure 6) [88], but eventually improvements in structure and a few additional HCV NS3 approved drugs danoprevir and vaniprevir [87] led to studies of macrocylic drug structures (**4**, Figure 6) [89]. More recent examples of viral NS3 protease inhibition with boronic acids include that of flaviviruses such as dengue fever virus (DV) and Zika. One group in particular discovered modified dipeptides (Phe-Arg) containing boronic acids as reversible covalent groups (**5**, Figure 6) that were over one hundred times more active than the carboxylic acid derivatives [90].

On a separate note, the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) aspartic acid protease was recently targeted with an aromatic boronic acid exhibiting subpicomolar activity (**6**, Figure 6), two orders of magnitude more potent than its previously-published carboxylic acid derivative (Figure 11) and current HIV approved protease inhibitor, Darunavir [91]. In a follow-up SAR study, Ghosh *et al.* [92] studied a set of analogues of Darunavir and this compound. Their study design and rationale are discussed on more detail later, with similar studies.





3.4.3. Other anti-infective boron-containing compounds

Boronic acids have been used quite widely in drug discovery studies targeting fungal, bacterial, and parasitic infections. As discussed earlier, some boronic acid drugs have either been approved (Figure 3) or are currently in clinical trials (Figure 4) for anti-fungal or anti-parasitic therapeutics, all of which contain the boronic acid benzoxaborole structure. This scaffold was also recently applied, again by Anacor Pharmaceuticals, to studies of the parasitic infection cryptosporidiosis, yielding compound AN7973 (Figure 7A). This compound exhibited potent *in vitro* and *in vivo* activities against infected mice and showed favourable pharmacokinetics. It is currently in pre-clinical studies.

The bacterial enzyme  $\beta$ -lactamase has also been a target in boronic acid drug discovery, and is the target of approved drug Vaborbactam (Figure 3) [93]. One of the most potent  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors reported to date was discovered through a fragment-guided *in silico* design (**7**, Figure 7A) and exhibited sub-nanomolar activity *in vitro* and promising results *in vivo*, though pharmacokinetics need improvement [94]. Nevertheless, drug discovery studies targeting  $\beta$ -lactamase have continued due to increasing need to combat anti-bacterial resistance [93].



**Figure 7**: Examples of bioactive boronic acid compounds (A) targeting non-viral infections and (B) for other therapeutic applications

3.4.4. Other therapeutic applications of boron-containing compounds

Besides as anti-cancer and anti-infective therapeutics, boron drugs have a number of other applications. In fact, one recent study discovered anti-Alzheimer's drugs from modifying curcumin, a known amyloid-beta (AB) aggregation inhibitor, to contain a borinic acid moiety (**8**, Figure 7B). After an SAR study, compound was found to not only be a potent AB aggregation inhibitor on the same order as curcumin, but also exhibited good antioxidant activity, as oxidative stress is associated with neurodegeneration [95].

As previously discussed, the benzoxaborole scaffold has been applied over a large scope of enzymes, including the phosphodiesterase 4 (PDE4) inhibitor [43] Crisaborole, to treat mild to moderate eczema [41]. Autotaxin, a target also implicated in inflammation, as well as fibrosis and cancer, has been targeted with boronic acid drugs, including the benzoxaborole scaffold [96] and aromatic boronic acids [97, 98]. Kraljić *et al.* have designed benzoxazole analogues (**9**, Figure 7B) of recently-discovered hits that not only exhibited submicromolar potency against autotaxin, but also very favourable pharmacokinetic properties [96], though further biological studies are needed to confirm potency.

Recently, Larcher *et al.* discovered a series of *bis*-benzoxaboroles targeting carbonic anhydrase, an enzyme implicated in several diseases, though isoform selectivity is difficult.[99] They found their linked *bis*-benzoxaborole inhibitors to be potent against the disease-implicated carbonic anhydrases, while remaining selective over the human cytosolic form. Their most promising compound, **10** (Figure 7B), contains two benzoxaboroles connected by an almost-symmetrical seven-atom linker containing one stereocenter [100].

### 3.5. Design of boron in drugs

Reasons and rationalizations for inclusion of boron, namely in the form of boronic acids, varies, as covered in a section above highlighting approved drugs and drugs in clinical trials. This section focuses in more detail on the design and rationalization leading to incorporation of boronic acids into drug discovery endeavours.

#### 3.5.1. Boronic acids as bioisosteres

Boronic acids are ionically stable in physiological pH [101], making them promising unionized alternatives for ionized bioisosteres (Figure 8).



Figure 8: pKa of boronic acid [101], carboxylic acid [102], and phosphate protons [103].

As a more specific example, boronic acids have been studied as bioisosteres of carboxylic acids. Their structures are similar, but the boronic acid's higher pKa allows it to be unionized at physiological pH [102]. Examples of this bioisostere application include studies by Albers *et al.* [97, 98] and Ghosh *et al.* [92]. A discussion detailing their design rationale follows.

Phosphates, while not as similar in structure to boronic acids as carboxylic acids, have also been replaced with boronic acids to study nucleosides [103]. For example, the Vasseur research group has synthesized analogues of DNA nucleotides, replacing the phosphate group with a boronic acid (Figure 9A). Computational studies revealed that these boronucleotides were very structurally very similar to their native analogues [104]. Furthermore, reaction with native ribonucleotide uridine gave the corresponding dinucleotide through reaction of the boronic acid with diol of the RNA nucleotide (Figure 9B) [105].



**Figure 9**: Vasseur's boronucleotide analogues. (A) structure of the boronucleotide, replacing the phosphate with a boronic acid [104]; (B) reversible reaction of RNA's uridine with the boronucleotide thymidine analogue [105].

For a more comprehensive review of boronic acids in nucleic acid chemistry, see a review from the Vasseur research group [106].

3.5.2. Utilizing boronic acids for improvement of pharmacokinetic properties

Addition of boron or replacement of certain functional groups with a boron-containing group affects the octanol-water partition coefficient (logP) and distribution coefficient (logD), which, in turn, affects several pharmacokinetic properties [107].

One example of utilizing a boronic acid as an isostere for a phenol group to improve solubility was investigated by Kong *et al.* [85]. In their study of analogs of Combretastatin A-4, an anti-cancer agent halted in Phase II clinical trials [108], they aimed to improve both the activity and solubility of the compound without the use of a phosphate prodrug. Their replacement of an aromatic phenol with an aromatic boronic acid (Figure 10) led to not only improved bioactivity, but a nearly two-fold improvement in solubility in acidic media, suggesting the enhanced stability and solubility upon oral administration [85].



**Figure 10**: Improved properties of upon utilizing the boronic acid group as an isostere for (A) Combretastatin A-4 [85] and (B) Fulvestrant [109].

Another example of utilizing boron for improved bioavailability comes from Liu *et al.* and their research in the discovery of breast cancer selective estrogen receptor downregulators (SERDs). The researchers aimed to improve the compound Fulvestrant [109], the only FDA-approved SERD (Figure 10) [110]. Wanting to overcome rapid glucuronidation of its phenol, the researchers replaced the phenol group with an aromatic boronic acid. Not only did the activity of the boron analogue remain nearly equipotent as Fulvestrant *in cellulo* against breast cancer cells, but it displayed superior pharmacokinetic properties and was therefore more potent *in vivo* [109]. More specifically, incorporation of a boronic acid slowed down the clearance rate of Fulvestrant, allowing for a slow release upon slower metabolic oxidation of the boronic acid to the phenol. ZB716 is currently in pre-clinical development [111]. The same research group, continuing their studies of SERDs, has since utilized the boronic acid moiety as an orally available bioisostere for phenols in their discovery and development of other anti-breast cancer drugs [110].

3.5.3. Utilizing boronic acids for improvement of drug activity

Boronic acids have been utilized as bioisosteres for several different functional groups, including carboxylic acids as mentioned above. One example from Albers *et al.* involves a study in which the researchers replace a carboxylic acid with a boronic acid in aims to improve potency of their hit autotaxin inhibitor [97, 98]. Their rationale included knowledge of a threonine nucleophilic residue; they realized that, while the carboxylic acid moiety could hydrogen bond to the nucleophilic threonine, a boronic acid could act as an electrophile to block the enzyme's activity reversibly [97].



Figure 11: Use of a boronic acid as an isostere for a carboxylic acid to improve anti-autotaxin activity [97, 98] and anti-HIV activity [92].

In their studies of HIV protease inhibitors, Ghosh *et al* discovered analogues of Darunavir containing either carboxylic acids or boronic acids (Figure 11). Upon testing the inhibitors against the enzyme itself, both series of compounds exhibited low-nanomolar potencies. When tested against MT-2 cells, however, the boronic acids retained their potency, while the carboxylic acids potency decreased by at least 2 orders of magnitude. This inactivity was attributed to the inhibitors' presumed inability to cross the cell membranes, as their binding mode was very similar by X-ray crystallography (aside from their differing bicyclic side chains) [92].

### 3.5.4. Boronic acids as reversible covalent inhibitors

When used as an isostere for a carboxylic acid, boronic acids can be used in peptide mimics as a reversible covalent group. In fact, most drug discovery studies depend on boron's ability to react with a serine or cysteine residue in the active site of various protease enzymes. (For a much more comprehensive review of boronic acids as inhibitors of proteases, see Smoum *et al* [112]. For a review on covalent inhibitors, see De Cesco *et al* [113]) Figure 12 outlines the general reaction of three reversibly covalent warheads in a serine protease, as compared to the natural peptide substrate. Unlike the weakly electrophilic nitrile C, the aldehyde and boronic acid reactions B and D result in a tetrahedral intermediate that mimics that of the substrate reaction A, which likely explains their higher potencies and longer residence time in the active sites serine proteases [114].



**Figure 12**: Comparison of various reversibly covalent warheads (B-C) to a peptidase-substrate reaction (A), using the example of serine proteases [114]. The serine proton is either transferred to the electrophile or the basic residue of the catalytic triad, depending on the enzyme's mechanism. Figure adapted from Plescia *et al.* [114].

Nevertheless, although aldehydes are ubiquitous in nature, their high reactivities cause oxidative stress in humans and lead to cytotoxic, mutagenic, and carcinogenic effects, among others [115]. Boronic acids, on the other hand, are generally considered safe [5] and are therefore preferred over aldehydes for drug development. Figure 13 shows the mechanism of the reversible covalent bond formation between a catalytic nucleophilic residue and the electrophilic boronic acid.



**Figure 13**: Generic reversible mechanism of a catalytic serine residue attacking an electrophilic boronic acid, including stabilization by a tyrosine residue.

One study takes advantage of this transition state mimic in their SAR studies to target  $\beta$ -lactamases. Instead of the irreversibly-binding  $\beta$ -lactam group, the researchers incorporated a reversibly covalent boronic acid (Figure 14), achieving nanomolar potencies [116].



**Figure 14**: Transition-state mimics in the discovery of  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors. (A) irreversible reaction of  $\beta$ -lactamase cleaving cephalothin; (B) reversible reaction of boronic acid inhibitor **13**. Figure adapted from Rojas *et al.* [116].

Vaborbactam (Figure 3), as discussed earlier, was designed to be a serine protease inhibitor of  $\beta$ -lactamases to complex with the catalytic serine residue [49]. Figure 15 shows the crystal structure of  $\beta$ -lactamase CTX-M-15 covalently complexed with Vaborbactam.



**Figure 15**: Vaborbactam (teal) complexed into the active site of  $\beta$ -lactamase CTX-M-15 (gray), nucleophilic serine highlighted (green) (pdb: 4XUZ).[49]

In another study by Ban *et al.* [86] mentioned earlier, the researchers designed several boronic acid analogues of EGFR TK inhibitors that originally contained Michael acceptors acting as irreversible inhibitors. A few are featured in Figure 16, but boronic ester analogues of each were also synthesized.

The intention was to target the active site's cysteine residue (resultant of a tyrosine mutation) without needing an irreversible inhibitor. Upon *in vitro* and *in cellulo* testing, it was found that (1) the boronic acids were slightly more potent than their boronic ester derivatives; (2) the boronic acids **14.1** and **14.3** exhibited submicromolar activity against EGFR TK without inhibiting other human kinases (**14.2**'s linker was deemed too short upon low inhibitory activity); and (3) **14.3** continued to inhibit EGFR activity even after five-hour incubation [86]. The boronic acid therefore remained bound the cysteine residue in a pseudo-irreversible manner without the risk of a suicide inhibitor.



**Figure 16**: Modification of EGFR TK inhibitor to replace the acrylamide Michael acceptor group with the boronic acid moiety.[86]

In our own research, we have found that the replacement of nitriles in our compounds have increased both potency [117] and residence time in the active site of the enzyme prolyl oligopeptidase (POP) [114]. Figure 17A shows two of our inhibitors differing only in their electrophiles. The boronic ester derivative exhibits nanomolar activity, while the nitrile it replaced exhibited double digit micromolar activity. Figure 17B shows two other inhibitors by Jansen *et al.* [118] exhibiting potencies against POP and an homologous enzyme fibroblast activation protein  $\alpha$  (FAP) increased by an order of magnitude upon replacement of the nitrile with the boronic acid.



**Figure 17**: Inhibitors showing increased potency by replacing the nitrile electrophile with a boronic ester/acid. (A) Our group's designed POP inhibitors [117]; (B) Two POP-FAP inhibitors by Jansen *et al.* [118].

Unfortunately, as discussed in a recent review from our group, current docking programs do not account for reactivity of an electrophile nor for the kinetics of the binding/dissociation (residence time) [113]. For example, our own covalent docking program, FITTED [119-121], gives identical predicted poses for both **15** and **16** (Figure 18), yet the *in vitro* activities of these compounds differ by three orders of magnitude.



**Figure 18**: (A) **15** (teal) docked to POP (gray); (B) **16** (teal), hydrolyzed, docked to POP (gray). Compounds from Plescia *et al.* [117] and are docked using FITTED [119-121].

Bortezomib (Figure 3), as previously discussed, was designed to be a reversible covalent inhibitor. Several peptide analogs containing various covalent groups, including aldehydes, were probed against the tumour proteasome, though boronic acids were the only functional group that were suitable for further pre-clinical studies. Figure 19A shows Bortezomib co-crystallized to the human 20S proteasome complex (pdb code 5LF3) [122].



**Figure 19**: Bortezomib (teal) (A, pdb code 5LF3) and Ixazomib (teal) (B, pdb code 5LF7) complexed to the human 20S proteasome complex (gray), with the nucleophilic threonine highlighted (green) [122].

Ixazomib (Figure 3), whose structure is very similar to Bortezomib, was discovered several years after Bortezomib's approval, as discussed earlier. It's mechanism of action is similar: it inhibits the catalytic threonine in the active site of the 20S proteasome. Figure 19B shows Ixazomib crystallized in the active site.

Talabostat, or Val-Boro-Pro (Figure 20), is a dipeptidic boronic acid dipeptidyl peptidase (DPP) inhibitor [123]. It was marketed as a multi-target drug that inhibited cancer-implicated homologous serine proteases, FAP and DPP4, DPP8, and DPP9. Its mechanism of action involved activation of innate immune response against tumours through its dipeptidyl peptidase inhibition [124]. Talabostat was discovered during a study of DPP family inhibition. Because DPP enzymes cleave terminal dipeptides with Xaa-Pro (i.e. any amino acid adjacent to proline) sequences from their substrates, the researchers tested a number of Xaa-Pro analogs in which the proline was substituted with boroPro, or a boronic acid in place of the carboxylic acid [125] to bind to the catalytic serine [123].

Ultimately, inefficacy lead to its failure at Phase III [101]. Although not confirmed, it is believed to have failed due to *in vivo* cyclization to its inactive form via the free amine reacting intramolecularly with the boronic acid moiety [126] (Figure 20).

It is speculated that Talabostat failure was also due to lack of patient tolerance at doses high enough for anti-tumoral activity, due to partial toxicity [127]. This compound continues to be studied, however, and more recently, it was used to crystallize DPP8 [128] and is the first ligand-bound crystal structure of this enzyme available on the Protein Data Bank. Figure 21 shows this crystal structure with Talabostat bound to the catalytic serine in the active site, confirming its covalent inhibition.



Figure 20: Cyclization of Talabostat at physiological and basic pH. Adapted from Kelly et al. [126].

18



Figure 21: Talabostat (teal) co-crystallized with DPP 8 (gray) with the nucleophilic serine highlighted (green). (pdb: 6HP8) [128].

In general, reversible covalent inhibition is a promising approach in drug discovery, as outlined in a recent review out of our group [113]. Its use in medicinal chemistry endeavours is on the rise, as seen in Figure 22.

Instances of "reversible covalent"



Figure 22: PubMed search results of the terms "reversible covalent."

3.5.5. Boronic acids and esters as prodrugs

Boronic acids have been used as anti-cancer pro-drugs. Several groups have taken advantage of elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (e.g.  $H_2O_2$ ) in certain cancer cells and resultant drug oxidation to synthesize prodrugs that release the active species upon oxidation. Lin *et al.* studied boronic acid substituted Camptothecin **B1** as a prodrug for neoplastic drug **SN-38** [129]. Taking advantage of elevated levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) hydrogen peroxide in cancer cells,[130] the group used a boronic acid that would be oxidized to the hydroxylated **SN-38** (Figure 23).



**Figure 23**: Oxidation of pro-drug B1 to SN-38 by intracellular reactive oxygen species hydrogen peroxide [129].

Upon adding to cell media, the researchers measured that nearly 60% of **B1** was converted to **SN-38** after 48h incubation. Upon testing against several cancer cell lines, they found that even with this structural change, **B1** exhibited comparable or greater cytotoxicity than **SB-38** and was actually a greater inhibitor of their target enzyme, DNA Topoisomerase I [129]. Using a boronic acid analogue, they were able to successfully design a prodrug that is not only active on its own but releases its chemotherapeutic drug *in vivo*.

Another example utilizes a boronic acid-containing extension to active drug **Belinostat** and involves a more complex prodrug release. In their quest to improve bioavailability and biocompatibility of **Belinostat**, they included boronic acid moieties, giving prodrugs **19** and **20** (Figure 24). Upon *in cellulo* testing of the active compound and both prodrugs, it was found that prodrug **19** exhibited activity three to five times less than that of **Belinostat**, but, more surprisingly, that prodrug **20** was weaker than prodrug **7** by an order of magnitude, and in one case, was 30 times less potent [131].



Figure 24: Comparison of drug and boronic prodrug activities. Figure adapted from Zheng et al. [131].



**Figure 25**: Proposed mechanism of oxidation of prodrug and subsequent release of drug. Figure from Zheng *et al.* [131]. pin refers to the pinacol protecting group

To explain this large difference in activity between the prodrugs **19** and **20**, the authors proposed a mechanism to determine the means by which the active compound **Belinostat** is released (Figure 25). Upon assumed oxidation by  $H_2O_2$  present in the cells, only prodrug **19** is able to undergo a mechanism to release the resultant phenolic moiety and a *para*-quinone; prodrug **20** rests as a phenolic intermediate. The inability of prodrug **20** to release the active form of the drug likely explains its decreased activity *in cellulo*. When **Belinostat** and prodrug **19** were tested in mice, however, the *in vivo* efficacy of tumour growth inhibition

(TGI) of **19** was significantly greater, contradicting *in cellulo* data. Tissue analysis found that **19** released **Belinostat**, but amounts of boronic acid **21** remained, potentially contributing to slower release and therefore higher efficacy [131].

Our own group has used boronic esters as prodrugs for their corresponding boronic acids. The basic buffer used in our assays hydrolyzed the (+)-pinanediol-protected boronic ester **23** (Figure 26A) to their respective free boronic acids within 20 minutes after mass spectroscopy analysis (Figure 26B) [114, 117]. This study's results allow for a much more diverse scope of potential drugs in future medicinal chemistry endeavours: harsh conditions normally used to cleave boronic esters to free boronic acids (strong acid, BBr<sub>3</sub>/BCl<sub>3</sub>, fluoride, etc.) normally affect other sensitive functional groups, such as methoxy esters or Boc- or Cbz-protected amines. Using a buffer-sensitive boronic ester allows for inclusion of many more functional groups that contribute to potency of potential drugs.



**Figure 26**: (A) Buffer-mediated hydrolysis of compound **23** to the active species **24**; BCl<sub>3</sub>-sensitive carbons highlighted in blue; (B) Mass spectroscopy study of the boronic ester hydrolysis. Figure adapted from Plescia *et al.* [114].

In fact, in our own synthetic efforts, the harsh conditions attempted to hydrolyze **23** resulted in (1) premature precipitation of the starting material in strongly acidic media during attempted transesterification of the (+)-pinanediol auxiliary and (2) mixtures of debenzylated products upon utilizing BCl<sub>3</sub> to remove the (+)-pinanediol protecting group. *In vitro* testing the boronic ester directly allowed us to obtain a very potent compound without having to sacrifice the study of a boron-based drug [114].



Figure 27: Hydrolysis of prodrug Ixazomib Citrate to Ixazomib.

Ninlaro®, or Ixazomib, is formulated as a prodrug so as to ensure oral bioavailability. The boronic acid is complexed with a citrate molecule to form a citrate ester, which is cleaved under aqueous physiological conditions to give the active form Ixazomib (Figure 27) [34].

From these examples, it is clear that not only can a boronic acid or ester be a prodrug to release the desired chemical species *in vivo*, but a boronic ester can also be utilized to release the desired boronic acid drug. For a more comprehensive review of boronic acids and esters as prodrugs, see Cadahía *et al.* [132].

## 3.5.6. Using computational methods

Certain discoveries of bioactive boronic acid compounds originated with predictive computational methods. One case from the Shoichet research group designed a virtual screening protocol to discover boronic acid inhibitors of AmpC  $\beta$ -lactamase. The researchers screened a virtual library of 23,000 commercially available boronic acids. They then selected several ligands that scored in the top two percent and tested them both *in vitro* and against several cell lines. Several hits were obtained, and one in particular (7, Figure 28A, B) exhibited *in vitro* potency of 10 nM and was potent against cells when administered with Cefotaxime [133].



**Figure 28**: Computational methods for boronic acid drug discovery. (A) boronic acid hit **25** discovered by virtual screening; (B) crystal structure of hit **25** (yellow, green electron map) superposed over its predicted binding pose (magenta) to AmpC  $\beta$ -lactamase; (A and B from London *et al.* [133]) (C) hit **26** for optimization with one fragment **27** used in the *in silico* design, giving resultant hit **7** [94]; (D) docking prediction of fragment **27** superposed to docking prediction of **7** (from Eidam *et al.* [94])

A different approach to the discovery of AmpC  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors was taken by Eidam *et al.* and used fragment-based *in silico* hit optimization [94]. Following previous studies of the Shoichet lab which used molecular docking to determine the best fragments for the enzyme active site [134], Eidam *et al.* superposed docked fragments with their hit molecule to determine the most promising side chain modifications. Through several rounds, they were able to modify their hit to improve the *in vitro* activity by two orders of magnitude into sub-nanomolar potency (Figure 28C, D) and achieve potency *in cellulo* and *in vivo* upon testing in combination with Ceftazidime [94].

22

Although many research groups do not use computational methods to design their target compounds, countless studies involve using molecular docking to rationalize differences in inhibitor activity to improve their compounds for future work.

#### 4. Boronic acids in delivery systems

Apart from inclusion of boronic acids in bioactive compounds, boronic acids' ability to bind to diols (e.g. sugars) on the extracellular domain has been exploited in studies aiming to improve cellular uptake of liposomes and macromolecules; boronic and borinic acids have been conjugated to more complex molecular systems for the purpose of macromolecule delivery, such as increased uptake of gene-delivery complexes [135], transport of proteins [136], and cellular uptake of liposomes [137].

In one example, Yadav *et al.* observed uptake issues of genetic material containing terminal polyethylenimines (PEIs). Reaction of these PEIs with 4-bromobutylboronic acid yielded tertiary amines with terminal boronic acids (**Error! Reference source not found.**). These modifications increased uptake of the plasmids without compromising structural integrity of the carrier nor cell viability [135], as the boronic acids' high pKa allows for unionized interaction with the membrane.





Another research group aimed to facilitate cell entry of liposomes by incorporating boronic acids on the surface. They began with the design of an aminoglycerolipid conjugated to an aromatic boronic acid (Figure 29A and B). Through a series of fluorescent experiments using rhodamine-labeled phosphatidylethanolamine (Rd-PE), they determined that liposomes with 10% boronic acid-conjugated lipid content entered the cells, while control liposomes did not [137].

One group has incorporated benzoxaboroles into delivery vehicles for the transport of proteins over mammalian bilayers (Figure 29, C and D). They designed a delivery vehicle with benzoxaborole conjugated to *o*-hydroxydihydrocinnamic acid derivative trimethyl lock (TML), which would in turn be conjugated to green fluorescent protein (GFP), a fluorescent protein unable to traverse the lipid bilayer. A series of experiments and control experiments led to the conclusions that (1) benzoxaborole was aiding in the uptake of the GFP; (2) the uptake was proceeding through an endosomal pathway; and (3) the labeling was stable but ultimately reversible, leading to the release of the delivered target protein in the cells [136].



**Figure 29**: (A) Close-up schematic diagram of a liposome's terminal boronic acids interacting with carbohydrates on the extracellular domain of the cellular membrane lipid bilayer; (B) Schematic diagram depicting uptake of boronic acid-coated liposomes; PC = phosphatidylcholine, BAL = boronic acid-coated liposomes, Rd-PE = rhodamine-labeled phosphatidylethanolamine; (C) (D); Figures A and B from Zhang*et al.*[137]; Figures C and D from Andersen*et al.*[136].

Although there exist many other applications of boron in delivery systems, such as advanced nanomaterials and usage in radiation therapy, they are beyond the scope of this review.

### 5. Synthesis of boronic acid drugs

Access to all of these drugs and potential drugs would not be possible without efficient synthetic methodologies. To obtain the final boronic acids, prodrugs are usually synthesized first, as boronic acids are difficult to purify and to carry through multiple steps. Boronic acid synthesis varies depending on surrounding functional groups, whether it is to be aromatic or aliphatic, and if applicable, the desired stereochemistry of the final product. Furthermore, in the synthesis of boropeptides, such as Delanzomib, the process synthesis is not so different from the discovery synthesis. Similar methodologies allow for more efficient development [138].

### 5.1. Synthesis of $\alpha$ -aminoboronates

One of the more popular  $\alpha$ -aminoboronic ester derivatives is the proline-derived analog. As discussed earlier, medicinal chemistry endeavours targeting certain families of peptidases have relied heavily on the use of this chiral boronic analogue of proline (Figure 30, **29**).

The increased use of  $\alpha$ -amino boronic acids in the discovery of inhibitors of this family of serine proteases has led to the increased commercial availability of prepared and enantiopure (+)-pinanediol-protected  $\alpha$ amino boronic ester analogs of many amino acids, such as the very commonly used isoleucine, used in the synthesis of Bortezomib[139] and Ixazomib, and proline, used in the synthesis of Talabostat.[140]



Figure 30: Commercially available enantiopure boronic (+)-pinanediol esters.[140]

The Ellman group at Yale has developed syntheses of highly enantiopure  $\alpha$ -amino boronic esters using their own Ellman chiral auxiliary to synthesize diastereopure (*R*)- or (*S*)-*tert*-butyl-sulfinylimines [141, 142].





In fact, the Ellman group's research sparked interest in synthetic development of chiral **29** for the synthesis of boro-peptide inhibitors, as performed by Chen. *et al.* [143].

24



Scheme 2: Synthesis of enantiopure CB-2 via the Ellman borylation. a) CuI (10 mol%), Cs<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (10 mol%), L (10 mol%), B<sub>2</sub>pnd<sub>2</sub>\* (1 eq), benzene, rt, 48h; b) NaO*t*Bu, DMF, rt, 6h; c) HCl, dioxane-MeOH, rt, 30 mins. \*pnd refers to (+)-pinanediol protecting group[143]

In our own chemistry, we have found that the  $\alpha$ -amino boronic pinacol esters are very difficult to purify and consequently difficult to carry through multiple steps, as they react with SiO<sub>2</sub> in flash chromatography columns and therefore require used of H<sub>2</sub>O-deactivated SiO<sub>2</sub>, as reported by the Ellman group [141]. However, application of a transesterification with (+)- or (-)-pinanediol as reported by the Matteson group [144] (Figure 32) gives diastereopure boronic esters that are more easily purified on a silica gel column.





5.2. Aromatic boronic esters and acids

The synthesis of aryl boronic esters and acids is well-established, such as in synthesis of starting material for the Suzuki cross-coupling reaction, one of the most widely used coupling reactions in medicinal chemistry. The Miyaura reaction allows for the facile synthesis of these boronic esters (Figure 33) [145]. Furthermore, purification is much simpler than that of the  $\alpha$ -aminoboronic ester derivatives, as they can be purified by flash chromatography on normal phase silica.



Figure 33: The Miyaura reaction [145].

Many aromatic boronic acids are available commercially (e.g. from Sigma-Aldrich [146], BoroChem [147], or Combi-Blocks [140]) either as building blocks or as known bioactive compounds for testing.

With this chemistry, the discovery of drugs containing this aromatic boronic ester group can be facilitated with *in silico* combinatorial chemistry studies; aryl halides can be virtually converted to aryl boronic acids to generate large libraries for virtual screening [133].

#### 5.3. Other aliphatic boronic acids

Already well known and studied is the addition of bis(pinacolato)diboron, or  $B_2pin_2$  to  $\alpha,\beta$ -unsaturated compounds (Figure 34). Usually, reactions involve a metal catalyst for activation of the boron and a base for assisting in heterolytic cleavage of the B–B bond. For a comprehensive review of various conditions and associated mechanisms of addition, see Lillo *et al.* [148].



Figure 34: Addition of boron to  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -unsaturated compounds

The Baran lab recently discovered a nickel-catalyzed decarboxylative borylation method applicable to a variety of aliphatic carboxylic acids. Their method involves simple preparation of metal- and ligand-containing suspensions, quick reaction times, and high yields. Although not completely stereo-selective, diastereoselectivity can be improved with lower reaction temperatures and steric control [149]. Their research sparked several other decarboxylative-borylation procedures, including a modified, transition metal-free procedure using blue light as a radical initiator [150], an iridium- and visible light catalyzed procedure [151], and another Baran procedure copper-catalyzed reaction [152]. A summary of these decarboxylative borylative borylations can be found in Figure 35.



Figure 35: Decarboxylative borylations [149-152].

Baran's nickel chloride method was applied to a small library of various aliphatic carboxylic acids, including several natural products and known bioactive compounds. In fact, decarboxylative borylation was conducted to obtain known compounds **32** and **33**, bioactive against human neutrophil elastase (HNE) implicated in cystic fibrosis (CF) (Figure 36). This new synthesis, including a deprotection step, allowed for efficient preparation and gave a single diastereomer. Furthermore, the boronic acid analog of the original trifluoromethyl ketone hit exhibited a potency increase of three orders of magnitude [149].



**Figure 36**: Compounds active against human neutrophil elastase (HNE) implicated in cystic fibrosis (CF); Compound **32** synthesized with Baran's decarboxylative deborylation [149].

While we have highlighted here only a few of the more common synthetic procedures for boronic acid incorporation, many others have been developed over the years. For a more comprehensive review of synthesis of bioactive boronic acids, see Yang *et al.* [153].

### 5.4. Deprotection of boronic ester pro-drugs

Boronic ester prodrugs are often deprotected before initial *in vitro* testing to their bioactive boronic acid analogues. Various methods exist for this deprotection step. The choice of conditions depends on stability of the starting compound and compatibility of the comprising functional groups.

Some research groups opt to perform simultaneous cleavage of *tert*-Butyloxycarbonyl (Boc) or carboxybenzyl (Cbz) protecting groups and boronic ester using BCl<sub>3</sub> or BBr<sub>3</sub> [154, 155]. Unfortunately, these highly reactive Lewis acids affect certain other functional groups, such as benzyl ethers/amines or methoxy groups. In the synthesis of Bortezomib, the final boronic ester is deprotected via a transesterification with isobutylboronic acid [156]. Again, with reaction conditions that require strong acid, certain functional groups are not compatible. Other methods for deprotection include a telescoped method reacting the boronic ester first with potassium hydrogen difluoride (KHF<sub>2</sub>) to give the boron trifluoride potassium salt, followed by hydrolysis in the presence of TMSCl or LiOH to give the free boronic acid [157], or oxidative cleavage via sodium periodate [158, 159]. A summary of these methods is provided in Figure 37. Furthermore, boronic acids at the  $\beta$ -position of an electron withdrawing group were discovered to be susceptible to deprotection by forming an ionic bicyclic structure with diethanolamine, followed by acidic hydrolysis (Figure 37) [160]. Interestingly, this cage-like bicyclic intermediate was used in the process chemistry synthesis of a Delanzomib pro-drug for clinical trials, as it improved purity and stability [138].



**Figure 37**: (A) Summary of boronic ester deprotection methods [154-159]; (B) conversion of  $\beta$  boronic esters to boronic acids via diethanolamine cages [160]. pin refers to the pinacol protecting group.

In our own studies, we have found that the deprotection of our boronic esters was not necessary, as our basic buffer mediated the hydrolysis of (+)-pinanediol boronic esters. Figure 38 displays two compounds and mass spectroscopy studies monitoring the relative abundance of the ester and acid species. Even for two compounds with different expected intrinsic reactivities (di-*ortho*-fluoro vs. unsubstituted), the hydrolysis rate was very similar; both esters were cleaved within twenty minutes, i.e. during the sample preparation step before the enzyme was even added.



**Figure 38.** Hydrolysis studies of boronic esters **34** and **35** in POP assay buffer. The graphs display relative abundance of each ionic species at intervals over 50-63 minutes. Figure from Plescia *et al.* [117]. pnd refers to the (+)-pinanediol protecting group.

In the case of the protecting group not being labile enough to hydrolyze in buffer, they would need to be deprotected under the discussed conditions. Purification of the resultant boronic acids is unfortunately not so straight-forward, as they are not suited for normal phase silica gel column chromatography, and require reverse-phase conditions, often by semi-preparative or preparative HPLC [118, 154].

### **6.** Conclusion and Perspectives

The abundance of boron in natural products and its general safety as a mineral make it an attractive synthetic target in drug discovery endeavours. Following the approval of Bortezomib, there have been many medicinal chemistry endeavours aimed at discovering boronic acid drugs.

As we have seen in this review, several approaches have been taken in the discovery of boron-containing drugs. Because of its reversible electrophilicity, it is commonly used as a reversible covalent group to incorporate into peptides to inhibit proteases, whether that was the original intention, or the result of medicinal chemistry hit optimizations. We have also seen that boronic acids or esters, stable and unionized at physiological pH, have been incorporated as bioisosteres of ionized groups, such as carboxylic esters or phosphate groups, for either activity or pharmacokinetic improvement or for structural purposes. Boron-containing groups have additionally been used as prodrugs, either boronic esters for their corresponding acids, such as FDA-approved Ixazomib, or boronic acids and esters for their ability to be oxidized *in vivo* to their active analogue by tumour environments abundant in reactive oxygen species. Finally, we have described boron-based drugs designed by computational methods, including virtual screening and *de novo* design.

Along with drug design came the associated synthetic efforts aimed at synthesizing boronic acids. Since the approval of Bortezomib, much focus has been on the design of diastereopure aliphatic boronic esters/acids, especially  $\alpha$ -amino boronic esters/acids. In turn, many groups have taken advantage of these discoveries to incorporate boronic acids into their drug discovery programs.

Lastly, we saw several examples of boronic acids facilitating drug and macromolecule delivery, either through incorporation into lipid bilayer for entry via liposomes or through reversible conjugation to a protein.

These explorations into boron-based drug discovery will hopefully shed light on the benefits of boron incorporation and encourage medicinal and pharmaceutical chemists to consider boronic acids and esters as possibilities and solutions in their drug discovery programs.

## Acknowledgements

NM thanks CIHR (BOP-149429) for financial support. JP thanks the faculty of science for a McGill University Molson and Hilton Hart Fellowship in Science.

## **References and notes**

[1] V.M. Dembitsky, R. Smoum, A.A. Al-Quntar, H.A. Ali, I. Pergament, M. Srebnik, Natural occurrence of boron-containing compounds in plants, algae and microorganisms, Plant Sci, 163 (2002) 931-942.

[2] J.J. Camacho-Cristobal, J. Rexach, A. Gonzalez-Fontes, Boron in plants: deficiency and toxicity, J Integr Plant Biol, 50 (2008) 1247-1255.

[3] D. Miljkovic, N. Miljkovic, M.F. McCarty, Up-regulatory impact of boron on vitamin D function -- does it reflect inhibition of 24-hydroxylase?, Med Hypotheses, 63 (2004) 1054-1056.

[4] R. Dessordi, A.L. Spirlandeli, A. Zamarioli, J.B. Volpon, A.M. Navarro, Boron supplementation improves bone health of non-obese diabetic mice, J Trace Elem Med Biol, 39 (2017) 169-175.

[5] D.G. Hall, Boronic Acids: Preparation and Applications in Organic Synthesis and Medicine, Wiley-VGH, Weinheim, Germany, 2005.

[6] J. Zielonka, A. Sikora, M. Hardy, J. Joseph, B.P. Dranka, B. Kalyanaraman, Boronate probes as diagnostic tools for real time monitoring of peroxynitrite and hydroperoxides, Chem Res Toxicol, 25 (2012) 1793-1799.

[7] M. Sanjoh, Y. Miyahara, K. Kataoka, A. Matsumoto, Phenylboronic Acids-based Diagnostic and Therapeutic Applications, Anal Sci, 30 (2014) 111-117.

[8] R.F. Barth, P. Mi, W. Yang, Boron delivery agents for neutron capture therapy of cancer, Cancer Commun (Lond), 38 (2018) 35.

#### 28

[9] R.F. Barth, Z. Zhang, T. Liu, A realistic appraisal of boron neutron capture therapy as a cancer treatment modality, Cancer Commun (Lond), 38 (2018) 36.

[10] J.P.M. Antonio, R. Russo, C.P. Carvalho, P. Cal, P.M.P. Gois, Boronic acids as building blocks for the construction of therapeutically useful bioconjugates, Chem Soc Rev, 48 (2019) 3513-3536.

[11] W.L. Brooks, B.S. Sumerlin, Synthesis and Applications of Boronic Acid-Containing Polymers: From Materials to Medicine, Chem Rev, 116 (2016) 1375-1397.

[12] D.G. Hall, Boronic acid catalysis, Chem Soc Rev, 48 (2019) 3475-3496.

[13] T.S.S. Chen, C.-J. Chang, H.G. Floss, On the Biosynthesis of Boromycin, J Org Chem, 46 (1981) 2661-2665.

[14] J. Kohno, T. Kawahata, T. Otake, M. Morimoto, H. Mori, N. Ueba, M. Nishio, A. Kinumaki, S. Komatsubara, K. Kawashima, Boromycin, an anti-HIV antibiotic, Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 60 (1996) 1036-1037.

[15] W. Moreira, D.B. Aziz, T. Dick, Boromycin Kills Mycobacterial Persisters without Detectable Resistance, Front Microbiol, 7 (2016) 199.

[16] H. Nakamura, Y. Iitaka, Structure of aplasmomycin, J Antibiot, 30 (1977) 714-719.

[17] Y. Shimizu, Y. Ogasawara, A. Matsumoto, T. Dairi, Aplasmomycin and boromycin are specific inhibitors of the futalosine pathway, J Antibiot, 71 (2018) 968-970.

[18] V.M. Dembitsky, A.A.A.A. Quntar, M. Srebnik, Natural and Synthetic Small Boron-Containing Molecules as Potential Inhibitors of Bacterial and Fungal Quorum Sensing, Chem Rev, 111 (2011) 209–237.

[19] T. Koshiba, M. Kobayashi, T. Matoh, Boron deficiency, Plant Signal Behav, 4 (2014) 557-558.

[20] W.H. Organization, Trace elements in human nutrition and health, Geneva, 1996.

[21] A.A. Gorustovich, T. Steimetz, F.H. Nielsen, M.B. Guglielmotti, A histomorphometric study of alveolar bone modelling and remodelling in mice fed a boron-deficient diet, Arch Oral Biol, 53 (2008) 677-682.

[22] M.F. Blech, C. Martin, J. Borrelly, P. Hartemann, Treatment of deep wounds with loss of tissue. Value of a 3 percent boric acid solution. [Article in French], Presse Med, 19 (1990) 1050-1052.

[23] R.M. Nzietchueng, B. Dousset, P. Franck, M. Benderdour, P. Nabet, K. Hes, Mechanisms implicated in the effects of boron on wound healing, J Trace Elem Med Biol, 16 (2002) 239-244.

[24] V. Kurtoglu, F. Kurtoglu, B. Coskun, Effects of boron supplementation of adequate and inadequate vitamin D3-containing diet on performance and serum biochemical characters of broiler chickens, Res Vet Sci, 71 (2001) 183-187.

[25] I. Uluisik, H.C. Karakaya, A. Koc, The importance of boron in biological systems, J Trace Elem Med Biol, 45 (2018) 156-162.

[26] R.C. Kane, A.T. Farrell, R. Sridhara, R. Pazdur, United States Food and Drug Administration approval summary: bortezomib for the treatment of progressive multiple myeloma after one prior therapy, Clin Cancer Res, 12 (2006) 2955-2960.

[27] VELCADE\* for multiple myeloma receives front-line approval in Canada, in, Johnson & Johnson, Johnson & Johnson, 2008.

[28] J. Adams, The development of proteasome inhibitors as anticancer drugs, Cancer Cell, 5 (2003) 417-421.

[29] R. Arkwright, T.M. Pham, J.A. Zonder, Q.P. Dou, The preclinical discovery and development of bortezomib for the treatment of mantle cell lymphoma, Expert Opin Drug Discov, 12 (2017) 225-235.

[30] D. Chen, M. Frezza, J. Schmitt, J. Kanwar, Q.P. Dou, Bortezomib as the First Proteasome Inhibitor Anticancer Drug: Current Status and Future Perspectives, Curr Cancer Drug Targets, 11 (2011) 239-253.

30

[31] M. Groll, C.R. Berkers, H.L. Ploegh, H. Ovaa, Crystal structure of the boronic acid-based proteasome inhibitor bortezomib in complex with the yeast 20S proteasome, Structure, 14 (2006) 451-456.

[32] M. Shirley, Ixazomib: First Global Approval, Drugs, 76 (2016) 405-411.

[33] Health Canada Approves Ninlaro (ixazomib) for Use in Relapsed/Refractory Multiple Myeloma, in, 2016.

[34] B. Muz, R.N. Ghazarian, M. Ou, M.J. Luderer, H.D. Kusdono, A.K. Azab, Spotlight on ixazomib: potential in the treatment of multiple myeloma, Drug Des Devel Ther, 10 (2016) 217-226.

[35] H. Ludwig, W. Poenisch, S. Knop, A. Egle, M. Schreder, D. Lechner, R. Hajek, E. Gunsilius, K.J. Krenosz, A. Petzer, K. Weisel, D. Niederwieser, H. Einsele, W. Willenbacher, T. Melchardt, R. Greil, N. Zojer, Ixazomib-Thalidomide-Dexamethasone for induction therapy followed by Ixazomib maintenance treatment in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma, Br J Cancer, 121 (2019) 751-757.

[36] A. Markham, Tavaborole: first global approval, Drugs, 74 (2014) 1555-1558.

[37] S. Jinna, J. Finch, Spotlight on tavaborole for the treatment of onychomycosis, Drug Des Devel Ther, 9 (2015) 6185-6190.

[38] S.J. Baker, Y.-K. Zhang, T. Akama, A. Lau, H. Zhou, V. Hernandez, W. Mao, M.R.K. Alley, V. Sanders, J.J. Plattner, Discovery of a New Boron-Containing Antifungal Agent, 5-Fluoro-1,3-dihydro-1-hydroxy-2,1benzoxaborole (AN2690), for the Potential Treatment of Onychomycosis, J Med Chem, 49 (2006) 4447-4450.

[39] S.J. Benkovic, S.J. Baker, M.R.K. Alley, Y.-H. Woo, Y.-K. Zhang, T. Akama, W. Mao, J. Baboval, P.T.R. Rajagopalan, M. Wall, L.S. Kahng, A. Tavassoli, L. Shapiro, Identification of Borinic Esters as Inhibitors of Bacterial Cell Growth and Bacterial Methyltransferases, CcrM and MenH, J Med Chem, 48 (2005) 7468-7476.

[40] B. Markinson, M. Ghannoum, T. Winter, A. Rycerz, F. Rock, A.K. Gupta, Examining the Benefits of the Boron-Based Mechanism of Action and Physicochemical Properties of Tavaborole in the Treatment of Onychomycosis, J Am Podiatr Med Assoc, 108 (2018) 12-19.

[41] A. Fischer, FDA approves Eucrisa for eczema, in, FDA.gov, 2016.

[42] Eucrisa<sup>™</sup> (Crisaborole) Now Available in Canada, in, 2019.

[43] T. Akama, S.J. Baker, Y.K. Zhang, V. Hernandez, H. Zhou, V. Sanders, Y. Freund, R. Kimura, K.R. Maples, J.J. Plattner, Discovery and structure-activity study of a novel benzoxaborole anti-inflammatory agent (AN2728) for the potential topical treatment of psoriasis and atopic dermatitis, Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 19 (2009) 2129-2132.

[44] FDA approves new antibacterial drug, in, 2017.

[45] Side Chain Flexibility, in: GOLD4.0 User Guide, Cambridge Crystolgraphic Data Center, 2008, pp. .

[46] D.M. Livermore, S. Mushtaq, Activity of biapenem (RPX2003) combined with the boronate betalactamase inhibitor RPX7009 against carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae, J Antimicrob Chemother, 68 (2013) 1825-1831.

[47] Y. Lee, J. Kim, S. Trinh, Meropenem–Vaborbactam (VabomereTM): Another Option for Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae, P T, 44 (2019).

[48] T. Beesley, N. Gascoyne, V. Knott-Hunziker, S. Petursson, S.G. Waley, B. Jaurint, T. Grundstromt, The inhibition of class C  $\beta$ -lactamases by boronic acids, Biochem J, 209 (1983) 229-233.

[49] S.J. Hecker, K.R. Reddy, M. Totrov, G.C. Hirst, O. Lomovskaya, D.C. Griffith, P. King, R. Tsivkovski, D. Sun, M. Sabet, Z. Tarazi, M.C. Clifton, K. Atkins, A. Raymond, K.T. Potts, J. Abendroth, S.H. Boyer, J.S. Loutit, E.E. Morgan, S. Durso, M.N. Dudley, Discovery of a Cyclic Boronic Acid beta-Lactamase Inhibitor (RPX7009) with Utility vs Class A Serine Carbapenemases, J Med Chem, 58 (2015) 3682-3692.

[50] R. Schenk, D. Nix, TCT-180 Impact of the novel DPP-IV-inhibitor Dutogliptin in combination with G-CSF on survival rates and cardiac remodelling after acute myocardial infarction, J Am Coll Cardiol, 68 (2016).

[51] D. Nix, B. Jilma, R. Schenk, Evaluation of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of subcutaneously administered dutogliptin for daily injection with granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) for AMI, Eur Heart J, 39 (2018) 49.

[52] Recardio, Study of Dutogliptin in Combination With Filgrastim in Post-Myocardial Infarction, in, <u>https://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT03486080</u>, 2018.

[53] C.H. Baker, S.C. Welburn, The Long Wait for a New Drug for Human African Trypanosomiasis, Trends Parasitol, 34 (2018) 818-827.

[54] R.J. Wall, E. Rico, I. Lukac, F. Zuccotto, S. Elg, I.H. Gilbert, Y. Freund, M.R.K. Alley, M.C. Field, S. Wyllie, D. Horn, Clinical and veterinary trypanocidal benzoxaboroles target CPSF3, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 115 (2018) 9616-9621.

[55] A. Abraham, N. Nedjah, L.d.M. Mourelle, Evolutionary computation: From genetic algorithms to genetic programming, in: N. Nedjah, L. Macedo Mourelle, A. Abraham (Eds.) Studies in Computational Intelligence, 2006, pp. 1-20

[56] D. Tenero, G. Derimanov, A. Carlton, J. Tonkyn, M. Davies, S. Cozens, S. Gresham, A. Gaudion, A. Puri, M. Muliaditan, J. Rullas-Trincado, A. Mendoza-Losana, A. Skingsley, D. Barros-Aguirre, First-Timein-Human Study and Prediction of Early Bactericidal Activity for GSK3036656, a Potent Leucyl-tRNA Synthetase Inhibitor for Tuberculosis Treatment, Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 63 (2019).

[57] X. Li, V. Hernandez, F.L. Rock, W. Choi, Y.S.L. Mak, M. Mohan, W. Mao, Y. Zhou, E.E. Easom, J.J. Plattner, W. Zou, E. Perez-Herran, I. Giordano, A. Mendoza-Losana, C. Alemparte, J. Rullas, I. Angulo-Barturen, S. Crouch, F. Ortega, D. Barros, M.R.K. Alley, Discovery of a Potent and Specific M. tuberculosis Leucyl-tRNA Synthetase Inhibitor: (S)-3-(Aminomethyl)-4-chloro-7-(2-hydroxyethoxy)benzo[c][1,2]oxaborol-1(3H)-ol (GSK656), J Med Chem, 60 (2017) 8011-8026.

[58] C.G. Monteferrante, A. Jirgensons, V. Varik, V. Hauryliuk, W.H. Goessens, J.P. Hays, Evaluation of the characteristics of leucyl-tRNA synthetase (LeuRS) inhibitor AN3365 in combination with different antibiotic classes, Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis, 35 (2016) 1857-1864.

[59] W. Adam, A. Zhang, Highly n-facial stereoselective aldol reaction of (S)-proline-derived amide enolate with benzaldehydes, Eur. J. Org. Chem., (2003) 587-591.

[60] L. Zane, T. Gogoleva, F. Heerinckx, J. Jermano, AN2728 and AN2898 Ointments Demonstrate Safety and Efficacy in a Bilateral Study of Atopic Dermatitis, J Dermatol Sci, 69 (2013).

[61] H. Yang, J. Wang, X. Zhang, Y. Zhang, Z.L. Qin, H. Wang, X.Y. Luo, Application of Topical Phosphodiesterase 4 Inhibitors in Mild to Moderate Atopic Dermatitis: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis, JAMA Dermatol, 155 (2019) 585-593.

[62] EU Clinical Trials Register: Greece. EudraCT Number: 2015-004702-42. A Multi-Center, Parallel Group, Open-Label, Phase 2 Study to Evaluate the Efficacy and Safety of a Single Subcutaneous Injection of RG-101 Combined with Oral GSK2878175 Taken Once Daily for 6, 9, or 12 Weeks in Treatment Naïve, Genotype 1 and 3, Chronic Hepatitis C Patients., in, 2016.

[63] P.Y. Chong, J.B. Shotwell, J. Miller, D.J. Price, A. Maynard, C. Voitenleitner, A. Mathis, S. Williams, J.J. Pouliot, K. Creech, F. Wang, J. Fang, H. Zhang, V.W. Tai, E. Turner, K.M. Kahler, R. Crosby, A.J. Peat, Design of N-Benzoxaborole Benzofuran GSK8175-Optimization of Human Pharmacokinetics Inspired by Metabolites of a Failed Clinical HCV Inhibitor, J Med Chem, 62 (2019) 3254-3267.

[64] L. Afzelius, C.H. Arnby, A. Broo, L. Carlsson, C. Isaksson, U. Jurva, B. Kjellander, K. Kolmodin, K. Nilsson, F. Raubacher, L. Weidolf, State-of-the-art tools for computational site of metabolism predictions: Comparative analysis, mechanistical insights, and future applications, Drug Metab. Rev., 39 (2007) 61-86.

32

[65] L. Afzelius, C. Hasselgren Arnby, A. Broo, L. Carlsson, C. Isaksson, U. Jurva, B. Kjellander, K. Kolmodin, K. Nilsson, F. Raubacher, L. Weidolf, State-of-the-art Tools for Computational Site of Metabolism Predictions: Comparative Analysis, Mechanistical Insights, and Future Applications, Drug Metabolism Reviews, 39 (2007) 61-86.

[66] P. Zhang, S. Ma, Recent development of leucyl-tRNA synthetase inhibitors as antimicrobial agents, MedChemComm, 10 (2019) 1329-1341.

[67] C. Agami, C. Puchot, Kinetic analysis of the dual catalysis by proline in the asymmetric intramolecular aldol reaction, J. Mol. Cat., 38 (1986) 341-343

[68] D.M. Hotho, J. de Bruijne, A.M. O'Farrell, T. Boyea, J. Li, M. Bracken, X. Li, D. Campbell, H.P. Guler, C.J. Weegink, J. Schinkel, R. Molenkamp, J. van de Wetering de Rooij, A. van Vliet, H.L. Janssen, R.J. de Knegt, H.W. Reesink, Pharmacokinetics and antiviral activity of PHX1766, a novel HCV protease inhibitor, using an accelerated Phase I study design, Antivir Ther, 17 (2012) 365-375.

[69] D.T. Vogl, T.G. Martin, R. Vij, P. Hari, J.R. Mikhael, D. Siegel, K.L. Wu, M. Delforge, C. Gasparetto, Phase I/II study of the novel proteasome inhibitor delanzomib (CEP-18770) for relapsed and refractory multiple myeloma, Leuk Lymphoma, 58 (2017) 1872-1879.

[70] Dietary Supplement Health and Education Act of 1994, Public Law 103-417, in, Food and Drug Administration, 1994.

[71] A.D. Pucker, S.M. Ng, J.J. Nichols, Over the counter (OTC) artificial tear drops for dry eye syndrome, Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2 (2016) CD009729-CD009729.

[72] L.B. Angotti, L.C. Lambert, D.E. Soper, Vaginitis: making sense of over-the-counter treatment options, Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol, 2007 (2007) 97424.

[73] G.D. Mogosanu, A. Bita, L.E. Bejenaru, C. Bejenaru, O. Croitoru, G. Rau, O.C. Rogoveanu, D.N. Florescu, J. Neamtu, I.D. Scorei, R.I. Scorei, Calcium Fructoborate for Bone and Cardiovascular Health, Biol Trace Elem Res, 172 (2016) 277-281.

[74] R. Scorei, P. Mitrut, I. Petrisor, I. Scorei, A double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study to evaluate the effect of calcium fructoborate on systemic inflammation and dyslipidemia markers for middle-aged people with primary osteoarthritis, Biol Trace Elem Res, 144 (2011) 253-263.

[75] O.C. Rogoveanu, G.D. Mogosanu, C. Bejenaru, L.E. Bejenaru, O. Croitoru, J. Neamtu, Z. Pietrzkowski, T. Reyes-Izquierdo, A. Bita, I.D. Scorei, R.I. Scorei, Effects of Calcium Fructoborate on Levels of C-Reactive Protein, Total Cholesterol, Low-Density Lipoprotein, Triglycerides, IL-1beta, IL-6, and MCP-1: a Double-blind, Placebo-controlled Clinical Study, Biol Trace Elem Res, 163 (2015) 124-131.

[76] L.Q. Han, X. Yuan, X.Y. Wu, R.D. Li, B. Xu, Q. Cheng, Z.M. Liu, T.Y. Zhou, H.Y. An, X. Wang, T.M. Cheng, Z.M. Ge, J.R. Cui, R.T. Li, Urea-containing peptide boronic acids as potent proteasome inhibitors, Eur J Med Chem, 125 (2017) 925-939.

[77] M. Lei, H. Feng, E. Bai, H. Zhou, J. Wang, Y. Qin, H. Zhang, X. Wang, Z. Liu, O. Hai, J. Liu, Y. Zhu, Discovery of a novel dipeptidyl boronic acid proteasome inhibitor for the treatment of multiple myeloma and triple-negative breast cancer, Org Biomol Chem, 17 (2019) 683-691.

[78] M.C. Okondo, D.C. Johnson, R. Sridharan, E.B. Go, A.J. Chui, M.S. Wang, S.E. Poplawski, W. Wu, Y. Liu, J.H. Lai, D.G. Sanford, M.O. Arciprete, T.R. Golub, W.W. Bachovchin, D.A. Bachovchin, DPP8 and DPP9 inhibition induces pro-caspase-1-dependent monocyte and macrophage pyroptosis, Nat Chem Biol, 13 (2017) 46-53.

[79] M.C. Okondo, S.D. Rao, C.Y. Taabazuing, A.J. Chui, S.E. Poplawski, D.C. Johnson, D.A. Bachovchin, Inhibition of Dpp8/9 Activates the Nlrp1b Inflammasome, Cell Chem Biol, 25 (2018) 262-267 e265.

[80] X. Ji, C. Xia, J. Wang, M. Su, L. Zhang, T. Dong, Z. Li, X. Wan, J. Li, J. Li, L. Zhao, Z. Gao, H. Jiang, H. Liu, Design, synthesis and biological evaluation of 4-fluoropyrrolidine-2-carbonitrile and

octahydrocyclopenta[b]pyrrole-2-carbonitrile derivatives as dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitors, Eur J Med Chem, 86 (2014) 242-256.

[81] B.A. Connolly, D.G. Sanford, A.K. Chiluwal, S.E. Healey, D.E. Peters, M.T. Dimare, W. Wu, Y. Liu, H. Maw, Y. Zhou, Y. Li, Z. Jin, J.L. Sudmeier, J.H. Lai, W.W. Bachovchin, Dipeptide Boronic Acid Inhibitors of Dipeptidyl Peptidase IV: Determinants of Potency and in Vivo Efficacy and Safety, J Med Chem, 51 (2008) 6005-6013.

[82] E. Gourgari, E.E. Wilhelm, H. Hassanzadeh, V.R. Aroda, I. Shoulson, A comprehensive review of the FDA-approved labels of diabetes drugs: Indications, safety, and emerging cardiovascular safety data, J Diabetes Complicat, 31 (2017) 1719-1727.

[83] R. Bishnoi, Y.R. Hong, C. Shah, A. Ali, W.P.t. Skelton, J. Huo, N.H. Dang, L.H. Dang, Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors as novel agents in improving survival in diabetic patients with colorectal cancer and lung cancer: A Surveillance Epidemiology and Endpoint Research Medicare study, Cancer Med, 8 (2019) 3918-3927.

[84] J.A. Overbeek, M. Bakker, A. van der Heijden, M.P.P. van Herk-Sukel, R.M.C. Herings, G. Nijpels, Risk of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors on site-specific cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis, Diabetes Metab Res Rev, 34 (2018) e3004.

[85] Y. Kong, J. Grembecka, M.C. Edler, E. Hamel, S.L. Mooberry, M. Sabat, J. Rieger, M.L. Brown, Structure-based discovery of a boronic acid bioisostere of combretastatin A-4, Chem Biol, 12 (2005) 1007-1014.

[86] H.S. Ban, T. Usui, W. Nabeyama, H. Morita, K. Fukuzawa, H. Nakamura, Discovery of boronconjugated 4-anilinoquinazoline as a prolonged inhibitor of EGFR tyrosine kinase, Org Biomol Chem, 7 (2009) 4415-4427.

[87] Hepatitis B and C Treatments, in: FDA (Ed.), United States Food and Drug Administration, FDA.gov, 2018.

[88] X. Li, Y.K. Zhang, Y. Liu, C.Z. Ding, Q. Li, Y. Zhou, J.J. Plattner, S.J. Baker, X. Qian, D. Fan, L. Liao, Z.J. Ni, G.V. White, J.E. Mordaunt, L.X. Lazarides, M.J. Slater, R.L. Jarvest, P. Thommes, M. Ellis, C.M. Edge, J.A. Hubbard, D. Somers, P. Rowland, P. Nassau, B. McDowell, T.J. Skarzynski, W.M. Kazmierski, R.M. Grimes, L.L. Wright, G.K. Smith, W. Zou, J. Wright, L.E. Pennicott, Synthesis and evaluation of novel alpha-amino cyclic boronates as inhibitors of HCV NS3 protease, Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 20 (2010) 3550-3556.

[89] X. Li, Y.K. Zhang, Y. Liu, C.Z. Ding, Y. Zhou, Q. Li, J.J. Plattner, S.J. Baker, S. Zhang, W.M. Kazmierski, L.L. Wright, G.K. Smith, R.M. Grimes, R.M. Crosby, K.L. Creech, L.H. Carballo, M.J. Slater, R.L. Jarvest, P. Thommes, J.A. Hubbard, M.A. Convery, P.M. Nassau, W. McDowell, T.J. Skarzynski, X. Qian, D. Fan, L. Liao, Z.J. Ni, L.E. Pennicott, W. Zou, J. Wright, Novel macrocyclic HCV NS3 protease inhibitors derived from alpha-amino cyclic boronates, Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 20 (2010) 5695-5700.

[90] C. Nitsche, L. Zhang, L.F. Weigel, J. Schilz, D. Graf, R. Bartenschlager, R. Hilgenfeld, C.D. Klein, Peptide-Boronic Acid Inhibitors of Flaviviral Proteases: Medicinal Chemistry and Structural Biology, J Med Chem, 60 (2017) 511-516.

[91] I.W. Windsor, M.J. Palte, J.C. Lukesh, 3rd, B. Gold, K.T. Forest, R.T. Raines, Sub-picomolar Inhibition of HIV-1 Protease with a Boronic Acid, J Am Chem Soc, 140 (2018) 14015-14018.

[92] A.K. Ghosh, Z. Xia, S. Kovela, W.L. Robinson, M.E. Johnson, D.W. Kneller, Y.F. Wang, M. Aoki, Y. Takamatsu, I.T. Weber, H. Mitsuya, Potent HIV-1 Protease Inhibitors Containing Carboxylic and Boronic Acids: Effect on Enzyme Inhibition and Antiviral Activity and Protein-Ligand X-ray Structural Studies, ChemMedChem, 14 (2019) 1863-1872.

[93] J. Zhou, P. Stapleton, S. Haider, J. Healy, Boronic acid inhibitors of the class A beta-lactamase KPC-2, Bioorg Med Chem, 26 (2018) 2921-2927.

34

[94] O. Eidam, C. Romagnoli, G. Dalmasso, S. Barelier, E. Caselli, R. Bonnet, B.K. Shoichet, F. Prati, Fragment-guided design of subnanomolar beta-lactamase inhibitors active in vivo, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 109 (2012) 17448-17453.

[95] C.J. Lu, J. Hu, Z. Wang, S. Xie, T. Pan, L. Huang, X. Li, Discovery of boron-containing compounds as Abeta aggregation inhibitors and antioxidants for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease, MedChemComm, 9 (2018) 1862-1870.

[96] K. Kraljic, D. Jelic, D. Ziher, A. Cvrtila, S. Dragojevic, V. Sinkovic, M. Mesic, Benzoxaboroles-Novel Autotaxin Inhibitors, Molecules, 24 (2019).

[97] H.M. Albers, L.A. van Meeteren, D.A. Egan, E.W. van Tilburg, W.H. Moolenaar, H. Ovaa, Discovery and optimization of boronic acid based inhibitors of autotaxin, J Med Chem, 53 (2010) 4958-4967.

[98] H.M. Albers, A. Dong, L.A. van Meeteren, D.A. Egan, M. Sunkara, E.W. van Tilburg, K. Schuurman, O. van Tellingen, A.J. Morris, S.S. Smyth, W.H. Moolenaar, H. Ovaa, Boronic acid-based inhibitor of autotaxin reveals rapid turnover of LPA in the circulation, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 107 (2010) 7257-7262.

[99] J.Y. Winum, A. Innocenti, A. Scozzafava, J.L. Montero, C.T. Supuran, Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Inhibition of the human cytosolic isoforms I and II and transmembrane, tumor-associated isoforms IX and XII with boronic acids, Bioorg Med Chem, 17 (2009) 3649-3652.

[100] A. Larcher, A. Nocentini, C.T. Supuran, J.Y. Winum, A. van der Lee, J.J. Vasseur, D. Laurencin, M. Smietana, Bis-benzoxaboroles: Design, Synthesis, and Biological Evaluation as Carbonic Anhydrase Inhibitors, ACS Med Chem Lett, 10 (2019) 1205-1210.

[101] P.R. Westmark, S.J. Gardiner, B.D. Smith, Selective Monosaccharide Transport through Lipid Bilayers Using Boronic Acid Carriers, J Am Chem Soc, 118 (1996) 11093-11100.

[102] C. Ballatore, D.M. Huryn, A.B. Smith, 3rd, Carboxylic acid (bio)isosteres in drug design, ChemMedChem, 8 (2013) 385-395.

[103] T.S. Elliott, A. Slowey, Y. Ye, S.J. Conway, The use of phosphate bioisosteres in medicinal chemistry and chemical biology, MedChemComm, 3 (2012).

[104] A.R. Martin, K. Mohanan, D. Luvino, N. Floquet, C. Baraguey, M. Smietana, J.J. Vasseur, Expanding the borononucleotide family: synthesis of borono-analogues of dCMP, dGMP and dAMP, Org Biomol Chem, 7 (2009) 4369-4377.

[105] D. Luvino, C. Baraguey, M. Smietana, J.J. Vasseur, Borononucleotides: synthesis, and formation of a new reversible boronate internucleosidic linkage, Chem Commun (Camb), (2008) 2352-2354.

[106] A.R. Martin, J.J. Vasseur, M. Smietana, Boron and nucleic acid chemistries: merging the best of both worlds, Chem Soc Rev, 42 (2013) 5684-5713.

[107] M.P. Gleeson, Generation of a Set of Simple, Interpretable ADMET Rules of Thumb, J Med Chem, 51 (2008) 817-834.

[108] S.K. Libutti, L.B. Anthony, D.J. Chaplin, J.A. Sosa, A phase II study of combretastatin A4-phosphate (CA4P) in the treatment of well-differentiated, low- to intermediate-grade, unresectable, recurrent, or metastatic pancreatic, or GI neuroendocrine tumors/carcinoid (GI-NETs/PNETs) with elevated biomarkers, J Clin Oncol, 35 (2017) 432-432.

[109] J. Liu, S. Zheng, V.L. Akerstrom, C. Yuan, Y. Ma, Q. Zhong, C. Zhang, Q. Zhang, S. Guo, P. Ma, E.V. Skripnikova, M.R. Bratton, A. Pannuti, L. Miele, T.E. Wiese, G. Wang, Fulvestrant-3 Boronic Acid (ZB716): An Orally Bioavailable Selective Estrogen Receptor Downregulator (SERD), J Med Chem, 59 (2016) 8134-8140.

[110] J. Liu, S. Zheng, S. Guo, C. Zhang, Q. Zhong, Q. Zhang, P. Ma, E.V. Skripnikova, M.R. Bratton, T.E. Wiese, G. Wang, Rational Design of a Boron-Modified Triphenylethylene (GLL398) as an Oral Selective Estrogen Receptor Downregulator, ACS Med Chem Lett, 8 (2017) 102-106.

[111] C. Zhang, S. Guo, L. Yang, J. Liu, S. Zheng, Q. Zhong, Q. Zhang, G. Wang, Metabolism, pharmacokinetics, and bioavailability of ZB716, a Steroidal Selective Estrogen Receptor Downregulator (SERD), Oncotarget, 8 (2017) 103874-103889.

[112] R. Smoum, A. Rubinstein, V.M. Dembitsky, M. Srebnik, Boron containing compounds as protease inhibitors, Chem Rev, 112 (2012) 4156-4220.

[113] S. De Cesco, J. Kurian, C. Dufresne, A.K. Mittermaier, N. Moitessier, Covalent inhibitors design and discovery, Eur J Med Chem, 138 (2017) 96-114.

[114] J. Plescia, S. De Cesco, M.B. Patrascu, J. Kurian, J. Di Trani, C. Dufresne, A.S. Wahba, N. Janmamode, A.K. Mittermaier, N. Moitessier, Integrated Synthetic, Biophysical, and Computational Investigations of Covalent Inhibitors of Prolyl Oligopeptidase and Fibroblast Activation Protein alpha, J Med Chem, 62 (2019) 7874–7884.

[115] A. Ahmed Laskar, H. Younus, Aldehyde toxicity and metabolism: the role of aldehyde dehydrogenases in detoxification, drug resistance and carcinogenesis, Drug Metab Rev, 51 (2019) 42-64.

[116] L.J. Rojas, M.A. Taracila, K.M. Papp-Wallace, C.R. Bethel, E. Caselli, C. Romagnoli, M.L. Winkler, B. Spellberg, F. Prati, R.A. Bonomo, Boronic Acid Transition State Inhibitors Active against KPC and Other Class A beta-Lactamases: Structure-Activity Relationships as a Guide to Inhibitor Design, Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 60 (2016) 1751-1759.

[117] J. Plescia, C. Dufresne, N. Janmamode, A.S. Wahba, A.K. Mittermaier, N. Moitessier, Discovery of covalent prolyl oligopeptidase boron ester inhibitors, Eur J Med Chem, (2019).

[118] K. Jansen, L. Heirbaut, R. Verkerk, J.D. Cheng, J. Joossens, P. Cos, L. Maes, A.M. Lambeir, I. De Meester, K. Augustyns, P. Van der Veken, Extended structure-activity relationship and pharmacokinetic investigation of (4-quinolinoyl)glycyl-2-cyanopyrrolidine inhibitors of fibroblast activation protein (FAP), J Med Chem, 57 (2014) 3053-3074.

[119] C.R. Corbeil, P. Englebienne, N. Moitessier, Docking Ligands into Flexible and Solvated Macromolecules. 1. Development and Validation of FITTED 1.0, J Chem Inf Model, 47 (2007) 435-449.

[120] N. Moitessier, J. Pottel, E. Therrien, P. Englebienne, Z. Liu, A. Tomberg, C.R. Corbeil, Medicinal Chemistry Projects Requiring Imaginative Structure-Based Drug Design Methods, Acc Chem Res, 49 (2016) 1646-1657.

[121] C.R. Corbeil, N. Moitessier, Docking Ligands into Flexible and Solvated Macromolecules. 3. Impact of Input Ligand Conformation, Protein Flexibility, and Water Molecules on the Accuracy of Docking Programs, J Chem Inf Model, 49 (2009) 997-1009.

[122] J. Schrader, Henneberg, F., Mata, R.A., Tittmann, K., Schneider, T.R., Stark, H., Bourenkov, G., Chari, A., The inhibition mechanism of human 20S proteasomes enables next-generation inhibitor design., Science, 353 (2016) 594-598.

[123] S. Adams, G.T. Miller, M.I. Jesson, T. Watanabe, B. Jones, B.P. Wallner, PT-100, a Small Molecule Dipeptidyl Peptidase Inhibitor, Has Potent Antitumor Effects and Augments Antibody-Mediated Cytotoxicity via a Novel Immune Mechanism, Cancer Res, 64 (2004) 5471–5480.

[124] C.C. Cunningham, Talabostat, Expert Opin Investig Drugs, 16 (2007) 1459-1465.

[125] G.R. Flentke, E. Munozt, B.T. Hubert, A.G. Plautt, C.A. Kettner, W.W. Bachovchin, Inhibition of dipeptidyl aminopeptidase IV (DP-IV) by Xaa-boroPro dipeptides and use of these inhibitors to examine the role of DP-IV in T-cell function, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 88 (1991) 1556-1559.

[126] T.A. Kelly, J. Adams, W.W. Bachovchin, R.W. Barton, S.J. Campbell, S.J. Coutts, C.A. Kennedy, R.J. Snow, Immunosuppressive Boronic Acid Dipeptides: Correlation between Conformation and Activity, J Am Chem Soc, 115 (1993) 12637-12638.

36

[127] S.E. Poplawski, J.H. Lai, D.G. Sanford, J.L. Sudmeier, W. Wu, W.W. Bachovchin, Pro-soft ValboroPro: a strategy for enhancing in vivo performance of boronic acid inhibitors of serine proteases, J Med Chem, 54 (2011) 2022-2028.

[128] B.H.R. Diaz, Improvement of Protein Crystal Diffraction Using Post-Crystallization Methods: Infrared Laser Radiation Controls Crystal Order, in: Department of Physics, University of Hamburg, 2018.

[129] L. Wang, S. Xie, L. Ma, Y. Chen, W. Lu, 10-Boronic acid substituted camptothecin as prodrug of SN-38, Eur J Med Chem, 116 (2016) 84-89.

[130] B. Lin, H. Chen, D. Liang, W. Lin, X. Qi, H. Liu, X. Deng, Acidic pH and High-H2O2 Dual Tumor Microenvironment-Responsive Nanocatalytic Graphene Oxide for Cancer Selective Therapy and Recognition, ACS Appl Mater Interfaces, 11 (2019) 11157-11166.

[131] S. Zheng, S. Guo, Q. Zhong, C. Zhang, J. Liu, L. Yang, Q. Zhang, G. Wang, Biocompatible Boron-Containing Prodrugs of Belinostat for the Potential Treatment of Solid Tumors, ACS Med Chem Lett, 9 (2018) 149-154.

[132] J. Peiro Cadahia, V. Previtali, N.S. Troelsen, M.H. Clausen, Prodrug strategies for targeted therapy triggered by reactive oxygen species, MedChemComm, 10 (2019) 1531-1549.

[133] N. London, R.M. Miller, S. Krishnan, K. Uchida, J.J. Irwin, O. Eidam, L. Gibold, P. Cimermancic, R. Bonnet, B.K. Shoichet, J. Taunton, Covalent docking of large libraries for the discovery of chemical probes, Nat Chem Biol, 10 (2014) 1066-1072.

[134] D.G. Teotico, K. Babaoglu, G.J. Rocklin, R.S. Ferreira, A.M. Giannetti, B.K. Shoichet, Docking for fragment inhibitors of AmpC beta-lactamase, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106 (2009) 7455-7460.

[135] S. Yadav, P. Kumar, Enhanced uptake of plasmid at boronic acid decorated linear polyethylenimines results in higher transfection efficiency, Biointerphases, 13 (2018) 061003.

[136] K.A. Andersen, T.P. Smith, J.E. Lomax, R.T. Raines, Boronic Acid for the Traceless Delivery of Proteins into Cells, ACS Chem Biol, 11 (2016) 319-323.

[137] X. Zhang, D.S. Alves, J. Lou, S.D. Hill, F.N. Barrera, M.D. Best, Boronic acid liposomes for cellular delivery and content release driven by carbohydrate binding, Chem Commun (Camb), 54 (2018) 6169-6172.

[138] R.C. Roemmele, M.A. Christie, Development and Scale-Up of an Optimized Route to the Peptide Boronic Acid, CEP-18770, Org Process Res Dev, 17 (2013) 422-426.

[139] A.S. Ivanov, A.A. Zhalnina, S.V. Shishkov, A convergent approach to synthesis of bortezomib: the use of TBTU suppresses racemization in the fragment condensation, Tetrahedron, 65 (2009) 7105-7108.

[140] Combi-Blocks, Inc., in, 2019.

[141] A.W. Buesking, V. Bacauanu, I. Cai, J.A. Ellman, Asymmetric synthesis of protected alpha-amino boronic acid derivatives with an air- and moisture-stable Cu(II) catalyst, J Org Chem, 79 (2014) 3671-3677.

[142] M.A. Beenen, C. An, J.A. Ellman, Asymmetric Copper-Catalyzed Synthesis of  $\alpha$ -Amino Boronate Esters from N-tert-Butanesulfinyl Aldimines, J Am Chem Soc, 130 (2008) 6910-6911.

[143] J. Chen, L.-y. Chen, Y. Zheng, Z. Sun, Asymmetric synthesis of stable  $\alpha$ -aminoboronic esters catalyzed by N-heterocylic carbene and copper(i) chloride, RSC Advances, 4 (2014).

[144] B.J. Kim, D.S. Matteson, Conversion of alkyltrifluoroborates into alkyldichloroboranes with tetrachlorosilane in coordinating solvents, Angew Chem Int Ed Engl, 43 (2004) 3056-3058.

[145] T. Ishiyama, M. Murata, N. Miyaura, Palladium(0)-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reaction of Alkoxydiboron with Haloarenes: A Direct Procedure for Arylboronic Esters, J Org Chem, 60 (1995) 7508-7510.

[146] MilliporeSigma <u>https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/</u> (accessed 2 Dec 2019).

[147] BoroChem PBO, http://borochem.fr/en (accessed 2 Dec 2019).

[148] V. Lillo, A. Bonet, E. Fernandez, Asymmetric induction on beta-boration of alpha, beta-unsaturated compounds: an inexpensive approach, Dalton Trans, (2009) 2899-2908.

[149] C. Li, J. Wang, L.M. Barton, S. Yu, M. Tian, D.S. Peters, M. Kumar, A.W. Yu, K.A. Johnson, A.K. Chatterjee, M. Yan, P.S. Baran, Decarboxylative borylation, Science, 356 (2017) 1-8.

[150] A. Fawcett, J. Pradeilles, Y. Wang, T. Mutsuga, E.L. Myers, V.K. Aggarwal, Photoinduced decarboxylative borylation of carboxylic acids, Science, 357 (2017) 283-286.

[151] D. Hu, L. Wang, P. Li, Decarboxylative Borylation of Aliphatic Esters under Visible-Light Photoredox Conditions, Org Lett, 19 (2017) 2770-2773.

[152] J. Wang, M. Shang, H. Lundberg, K.S. Feu, S.J. Hecker, T. Qin, D.G. Blackmond, P.S. Baran, Cu-Catalyzed Decarboxylative Borylation, ACS Catal, 8 (2018) 9537-9542.

[153] F. Yang, M. Zhu, J. Zhang, H. Zhou, Synthesis of biologically active boron-containing compounds, MedChemComm, 9 (2018) 201-211.

[154] S.E. Poplawski, J.H. Lai, Y. Li, Z. Jin, Y. Liu, W. Wu, Y. Wu, Y. Zhou, J.L. Sudmeier, D.G. Sanford, W.W. Bachovchin, Identification of selective and potent inhibitors of fibroblast activation protein and prolyl oligopeptidase, J Med Chem, 56 (2013) 3467-3477.

[155] W. Wu, Y. Liu, L.J. Milo, Jr., Y. Shu, P. Zhao, Y. Li, I. Woznica, G. Yu, D.G. Sanford, Y. Zhou, S.E. Poplawski, B.A. Connolly, J.L. Sudmeier, W.W. Bachovchin, J.H. Lai, 4-Substituted boro-proline dipeptides: synthesis, characterization, and dipeptidyl peptidase IV, 8, and 9 activities, Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 22 (2012) 5536-5540.

[156] F. Pickersgill, J. Bishop, Y. Lo, F.-T. Chiu, V.R. Kulkarni, Synthesis of Bortezomib, in: E.P. Office (Ed.), Millennium Pharmaceuticals Inc, 2004.

[157] A.K.L. Yuen, C.A. Hutton, Deprotection of pinacolyl boronate esters via hydrolysis of intermediate potassium trifluoroborates, Tet Lett, 46 (2005) 7899-7903.

[158] S.J. Coutts, J. Adams, D. Krolikowski, R.J. Snow, Two efficient methods for the cleavage of pinanediol boronate esters yielding the free boronic acids, Tet Lett, 35 (1994) 5109-5112.

[159] J.M. Murphy, C.C. Tzschucke, J.F. Hartwig, One-pot synthesis of arylboronic acids and aryl trifluoroborates by Ir-catalyzed borylation of arenes, Org Lett, 9 (2007) 757-760.

[160] J. Sun, M.T. Perfetti, W.L. Santos, A method for the deprotection of alkylpinacolyl boronate esters, J Org Chem, 76 (2011) 3571-3575.